# Basic Nutrition Modules 1, 2 & 3 Companion Document June 2013

(Disclaimer)

This text is intended to be used in conjunction with the online portion of these modules.

Content repurposed with permission of Arizona WIC.

June 2013 1 | Page

June 2013 2 | Page

# **Table of Contents**

Module 1: Introduction to Nutrition	7
Introduction	7
Nutrition Choices	7
Digestion	7
Mouth	7
Stomach	7
Intestines	8
Enzymes	8
Metabolism	8
Nutrients	8
Types of Nutrients	8
Calories	8
Energy Balance	g
How Much of Each Nutrient is Needed?	9
Carbohydrates	9
Sugars	9
Empty Calorie Foods	10
Starches	11
Fiber	11
Insoluble Fiber (or roughage)	11
Soluble Fiber	12
Increasing Fiber Intake	12
Fats	12
Saturated Fats	13
FOODS HIGH IN SATURATED FATS	13
Unsaturated Fats	13
Trans Fats	14
Recommendations for Fat in Your Diet	14
For those over two years of age:	14

Cholesterol	14
Cholesterol Functions	
Dietary Cholesterol	
Proteins	16
Vitamins	16
Two Categories of Vitamins	
Vitamin Supplements	
WIC Special Vitamins	
Vitamin A	
Vitamin C	18
Folic Acid	
Facts about Folic Acid	19
Women and Folic Acid	
Folic Acid and Birth Defects	
Antioxidants	
Minerals	
Multitasking Minerals	
Types of Minerals	20
Important Minerals for WIC	20
Calcium	20
Calcium Food Sources	21
Risk Groups Calcium Deficiency	21
Calcium Supplements	
Fluoride	22
Iron	22
Two Forms of Iron in Food	22
Tips Increasing Intake	23
Poor Iron Intake	23
Results Poor Iron Intake	
Excess Iron	23
Sodium	23
Water	24
Bodies Don't Store Water	24

Dehydration	25
Avoiding Dehydration	25
Summary	25
Module 2: Guidelines and Standards	26
Introduction	26
Dietary Guidelines for Americans	26
Purpose of Guidelines	26
Messages of the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010  Balancing Calories	
Foods to Increase	27
Foods to Reduce	27
Building Healthy Eating Patterns	2
Tips to Customize your Message	28
Food Guide Pyramid	28
ChooseMyPlate.gov Icon	28
ChooseMyPlate.gov Website	28
Optimal Health Guide	28
ChooseMyPlate for Pregnant and Breastfeeding Moms	30
Food Labels	
Food Label Breakdown	30
Health Claims	30
Ingredient List	30
Meal Planning	30
Shopping Tips	31
Summary	31
Module 3: Special Considerations	32
Introduction	32
Weight Management	32

Definitions	32
Body Mass Index (BMI)	32
BMI Limitations	32
BMI Weight Status	32
Ways to Prevent Obesity	33
Energy Balance	33
Weight Loss	33
Weight Loss Plan	34
Eating Disorders	34
Treating Eating Disorders	34
Vegetarians	34
Four Types of Vegetarian Diets	35
Nutritional Adequacy of Vegetarian Diets	35
Symptoms of an allergic reaction	35
Food Intolerance	35
Treatment	36
Food Allergies in Children	36
Treatment of Food Allergies	36
Lactose Intolerance	36
Reliable Nutrition Information	37
Summary	37
References	38
References	

#### **Module 1: Introduction to Nutrition**

#### Introduction

#### **Nutrition Choices**

Food is everywhere, from ads on television, to fast food, to your dining room table. The choices you make can affect your health during your lifetime. Good nutrition choices can help prevent diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, obesity, high blood pressure, certain cancers, and osteoporosis. On the other hand, poor food choices can actually contribute to the development of the previously mentioned, as well as other diseases.

Good nutrition prevents:

- Diabetes
- Heart Disease.
- Obesity.
- High Blood Pressure.
- Certain Cancers.
- Osteoporosis.

## Digestion

We all need a variety of food in our diets to provide the nutrients we need to maintain life. After eating, food is digested. Digestion is when food is broken down into nutrients and then absorbed and carried to cells in the body.

#### Mouth

To understand digestion, you need to take a closer look. Digestion takes place in the digestive tract which contains the mouth, stomach, and intestines. Let's first take a look at the mouth.

- Chewing crushes food then moisturizes it with saliva.
- Saliva contains an enzyme called amylase, which begins to break down food before it leaves the mouth.
- Swallowing then moves the food from the mouth to the stomach.

#### Stomach

Once in the stomach, food is mixed with fluid that liquefies and then digests it.

- The stomach empties in one to four hours.
- Carbohydrates digested most rapidly, followed by proteins and then fats.
- Liquids always digest faster than solids.

June 2013 7 | Page

#### **Intestines**

The liquefied food then moves from the stomach to the small and then large intestines, where it's mixed with more digestive juices.

- Absorption takes place when nutrients are passed into the blood stream through the cells that make up the walls of the intestines.
- Most absorption takes place in 3 10 hours.
- Large intestines then eliminate any undigested food, bacteria, and waste.

#### **Enzymes**

Enzymes are another important part of the digestive system because they increase the rate of chemical reaction.

• Total time for our system to digest food takes 3 – 24 hours.

#### Metabolism

Once food is digested and absorbed, it then undergoes metabolism. Metabolism is converting food into useful energy.

#### **Nutrients**

Digestion changes food into nutrients. Nutrients are substances your body needs for:

- Energy.
- Growth.
- Maintenance.
- Repair of body tissue.
- Regulation of body functions.

# **Types of Nutrients**

#### **Calories**

Calories are the units used to measure energy in the body. Some sources of calories Include:

- Protein –contains 4 calories per gram.
- Carbohydrates contain 4 calories per gram.

Fat – contains 9 nine calories per gram.

• Alcohol – contains 7 calories per gram (unlike other sources of calories, alcohol provides no useful nutrients for our bodies).

June 2013 8 | Page

## **Energy Balance**

A person maintains energy balance when the number of calories eaten is the same as the number used. Several factors can affect this balance including:

- Body size.
- Age.
- Gender.
- Level of activity.
- Health.
- Special factors including pregnancy, growth and breastfeeding, which requires more calories.

#### **How Much of Each Nutrient is Needed?**

Now that we know that we need nutrients, how much do we need? We all need the same nutrients, but in different quantities. The quantities vary depending on

- Age.
- Gender.
- Body size.

To help you, the Recommended Dietary Allowances and the Dietary Reference Intakes were created to give people guidelines for the amount of daily nutrients needed based on several factors. To view the guidelines online, use the following link.

http://fnic.nal.usda.gov/nal\_display/index.php?info\_center=4&tax\_level=2&tax\_subjec t=256&topic\_id=1342

## **Carbohydrates**

Carbohydrates, or "carbs," provide you with two main things: Energy for your body and fuel for your brain. There are three types of carbohydrates: **sugars**, **starches**, and **fiber**.

#### **Sugars**

Sugars – Some come naturally in foods, like apples, and some have added sugars, like chocolates. Either way, you body can't tell the difference between the two types. It treats all sugars basically the same way. View the chart below for types of common sugars.

June 2013 9 | Page

COMMON SUGARS			
Sucrose	The same thing as table sugar. Sucrose comes from plants		
	such as beets, sugar cane, and corn.		
Lactose	The main sugar in milk. Some people have trouble digesting		
	Lactose, which is known as lactose intolerance.		
Fructose	The sweetest of all sugars. It occurs naturally in fruits and		
	honey. It is commonly added to foods, in the form of high-		
	fructose corn syrup (HFCS).		
Glucose	Found in the blood, so it's often called blood sugar. Glucose is		
	the main source form of carbohydrate that cells use to		
	produce energy. Glucose is present in some foods such as		
	fruits, vegetables, corn syrup, and honey.		
Others	When you look at ingredients on a food label, you'll find all		
	kinds of terms referring to sugars. A food is likely to be high in		
	sugars if one of these names appears first or second on the		
	ingredient list		

# **Empty Calorie Foods**

Empty calories are calories from foods that contain very few healthy nutrients. These foods typically contain a lot of sugar. View the chart below for examples of common empty calorie foods.

COMMON EMPTY CALORIE FOODS		
Food	Added Sugar (approx.)	
Candy (1 oz)	5 tbs	
Cake, frosted (1/16 of 9' cake)	8 tbs	
Cookies, commercial (4-5)	5 tbs	
Doughnut, yeast, glazed (1)	5 tbs	
Fruit punch (8 oz)	6 tbs	
Fruit rolls (1 roll)	3 tbs	
Granola bar (1 bar)	4 tbs	
Lemonade (8 oz)	6 tbs	
Pastry, pan dolce (1)	5 tbs	
Fruit pie (1/16 of 9' pie)	5 tbs	
Popcorn, caramelized (1 cup)	5 tbs	
Popsicle (1)	4 tbs	
Sherbet (1/2 cup)	7 tbs	
Soft drinks (12 oz)	9 tbs	
Sweetened fruit drinks (12 oz)	12 tbs	

June 2013 10 | Page

#### **Starches**

Another type of carbohydrate is starch. When you think starches, think of grains such as wheat, rice, corn, and oats, also legumes, dry beans, peas and starchy veggies such as and potatoes and yams. High-starch foods usually have more vitamins, minerals, and fiber than high-sugar foods.

#### **Hidden Starches**

- Less obvious.
- These starches are added to foods during cooking.
- Some examples are adding flour to gravy to thicken it, and breading on meats and poultry, such as fried chicken or nuggets.

#### **Fiber**

The final type of carbohydrate is fiber. Our bodies don't have the enzymes needed to break fiber down into smaller units for absorption. This means fiber cannot be used for energy. There are two types of fiber:

## **Insoluble Fiber (or roughage)**

- Doesn't dissolve in water, but it does absorb water.
- Creating bulkier, softer stool makes it easier for your small intestine and colon to push waste through.
- This extra bulk reduces constipation and may help prevent diseases, such as colorectal cancer.
- Whole-wheat flour, wheat bran, nuts and many vegetables are good sources of insoluble fiber.

June 2013 11 | P a g e

<sup>\*</sup> Whole grains are a good source of fiber. A whole grain is the entire edible portion of a grain. A whole seed contains three parts: the endosperm, the bran and the germ. When whole grains are made into flour, only the endosperm remains, removing most of the fiber, along with much of the protein, vitamins, and minerals. If a grain is "enriched," it means that iron, thiamin, riboflavin, and niacin were added back to the grain. However, other nutrients that were lost, such as magnesium, vitamin B6, zinc, vitamin E, and fiber, are not restored, sole grain breads and cereals have more fiber, vitamins, and minerals than enriched or refined products.

#### **Soluble Fiber**

- Soluble fiber dissolves in water to form a gel-like, gummy material
- It can help lower blood cholesterol and glucose levels.
- Soluble fiber is found in oats, peas, beans, apples, citrus fruits, carrots, and barley.

HEALTH BENEFITS OF FIBER	
Problem	Possible Health Benefit of Increasing Fiber Intake
Constipation	Fiber holds water, which increases bulk of stool, producing softer stools and reducing constipation.
Hemorrhoids	Larger, softer stools reduce straining during bowel movements.
Diverticulosis	Larger, softer bowel movements maintain the health of the colon to prevent formation of tiny sacs that may become infected.
Obesity	Increased feeling of fullness from high-fiber food, resulting in less food eaten.
Heart Disease	Eating certain kinds of fiber reduces heart disease risk.
Colorectal Cancer	Large, soft stools may dilute carcinogens: faster time through colon reduces contact of carcinogen with intestinal wall.

#### **Increasing Fiber Intake**

- Not quite sure how to increase fiber in your diet? Use these strategies:
- Eat a variety of plant-based foods.
- Eat plenty of fruits and vegetables.
- Look for 'bran', 'whole grain', or 'whole wheat flour' on food labels.
- Choose whole grains for at least half of your grain.
- Eat beans and legumes often.
- Choose cereals with 5 or more grams of dietary fiber per serving.
- Eat brown rice rather than white rice.
- Leave the skins on your fruit and vegetables.
- Choose whole fruit over juice.
- Substitute higher fiber ingredients in cooking (such as adding bran or oatmeal).

#### **Fats**

Another major class of nutrients found in foods is fat.

- Fats have more calories than carbohydrates and proteins, and eating large amounts of fat can lead to weight gain and obesity.
- Our bodies need fat to carry out certain essential functions, such as the absorption of vitamins A, D, E, and K.
- Fats are also what give our food its flavor, aroma, and texture and make us feel full.

June 2013 12 | P a g e

- Eating too much of certain types of fat can lead to clogged arteries, heart disease, and other chronic diseases.
- Fats come in three types: saturated, unsaturated (monounsaturated and polyunsaturated), and trans fats.

#### **Saturated Fats**

- Saturated fats are the least healthy and can raise cholesterol levels in the blood.
- They are typically solid at room temperature.
- Usually come from animal sources, like meat, milk, cheese, butter, egg yolks, and cream.

FOODS HIGH IN SATURATED FATS		
Animal Sources	Plant Sources	
Certain cuts of beef and pork	Coconut oil	
Chicken and turkey skins	Palm kernel oil	
Whole-milk dairy products	Palm oil	
Butter	Cocoa butter	
Lard	Chocolate	
	Some hydrogenated shortenings	

## **Unsaturated Fats**

- Unsaturated fats are usually liquid at room temperature.
- They almost always come from plant sources.
- Unsaturated fats can be either monounsaturated or polyunsaturated.

MONO AND POLYUNSATURATED FAT		
Polyunsaturated Monounsaturated		
Safflower oil	Canola oil	
Sunflower oil	Olive oil	
Corn oil	Peanut butter	
Soybean oil	Avocado	
Fatty seafood	Nuts	

- Omega-3 fats are polyunsaturated fats.
- Health benefits include: reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease and their role in brain and eye development in infants.
- Main sources of Omega-3s are cold water fish, like albacore tuna,

June 2013 13 | Page

mackerel and salmon.

 Flaxseed, soybean, and canola oils and walnuts are also high in Omega-3s.

#### **Trans Fats**

- Trans fat, should be limited or avoided as it increases the risk of cardiovascular disease.
- Trans fats are often found in fried items, like french fries, and baked goods, like cookies and crackers.

#### **Recommendations for Fat in Your Diet**

For those over two years of age:

- Limit the total fat you eat to 20-35 percent of your total calories
- Most fat should come from foods high in polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fats, and finally,
- Limit saturated and trans fats in your diet.

TO KEEP FAT AT AN ACCEPTABLE LEVEL:		
Use lean meats (removing visible fat) and skim or low-fat dairy products.	Bake, broil, steam, and grill, rather than frying	
Use liquid unsaturated vegetable oils, like olive oil or canola for cooking instead of lard or shortening.	Eat plenty of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains, the foods naturally low in total fat and high in starch and fiber.	
Enjoy fish or beans as a main dish.	Limit egg yolks.	
Watch portion sizes. Consume high fat foods in moderation.	Add flavor using herbs and spices instead of fat.	

#### Cholesterol

- Waxy, fat-like substance found in every cell in your body.
- Cholesterol is not fat; it has a different chemical structure and performs different functions in the body than fat.
- It isn't necessary to get cholesterol in your diet, because your liver makes it if you don't eat foods containing it.
- Blood Cholesterol made by your liver
- **Dietary Cholesterol** cholesterol from food is called dietary cholesterol.

#### **Cholesterol Functions**

Just like oil and water, cholesterol and blood don't mix. To help cholesterol move through your blood, it's coated with a layer of protein, called a lipoprotein.

June 2013

- Low-density lipoproteins (LDLs).
- High- density lipoproteins (HDLs).
- Both are made only in the body and are not found in foods.

LDL carries most of your blood cholesterol to cells where it is used.

- If too much LDL cholesterol is in the blood, it can start to build up on the walls of your arteries, increasing your risk for heart disease.
- We call LDL cholesterol 'bad' cholesterol because of its potential to increase the risk of heart disease.

HDL, on the other hand, helps remove cholesterol from the blood and prevent fatty buildup.

- This reduces your risk of heart disease, which is why it's called 'good' cholesterol.
- You can remember that HDL is the good cholesterol by thinking of the 'H' as 'hero.'

## **Dietary Cholesterol**

- Dietary cholesterol is found only in foods from animals.
- High-fat foods like nuts, peanut butter, vegetable oil, and avocados contain fat, but they don't contain cholesterol because they come from plants, not animals.
- Too much dietary cholesterol can raise blood cholesterol levels, increasing risk for heart disease.
- You don't need to stop eating foods containing cholesterol, but just be aware of how much total cholesterol you're taking in. Click the chart to compare cholesterol amounts in foods.

HIGH CHOLESTEROL FOODS		
Food	Cholesterol (mg)	Saturated Fats (g)
Liver (3 ounces, cooked)	331	1.9
Egg (1 yolk)	213	1.6
Beef (3 ounces, cooked)	76	7
Whole milk (1 cup)	33	5.6
Cheddar cheese (1 ounce)	30	6
Bacon (3 medium slices)	16	3.3
Lard (1 tbsp.)	12	5
Skim milk (1 cup)	4	0

June 2013 15 | Page

#### **Proteins**

In addition to carbohydrates and fats, another major class of nutrients found in foods is protein. Proteins are made up of amino acids; when amino acids are put together in different combinations, they make up the thousands of different proteins in the body.

- Proteins perform all sorts of functions, such as:
- Build and maintain body tissue.
- Part of enzymes and hormones.
- Repair cells.
- Help transport nutrients and oxygen through the body.
- Provide energy when there are not enough carbohydrates and fats available.

#### Who needs more protein?

- We need more protein during periods of rapid growth.
- Children, as well as pregnant and breastfeeding moms, need more protein in their diets.
- Foods that come from both plants and animals contain protein.

PROTEIN IN FOODS	
Food	Protein (g = grams)
Dairy (8 oz. milk, 1-1/ 2 oz. cheese)	8g
Meat (1 oz. meat/poultry, 1/2 cup legumes)	7g
Grains (1 slice bread, 1 portion cereal)	3g
Vegetables (1/ 2 cup cooked, 1 cup raw)	2g
Fruits	0g

#### **Vitamins**

Vitamins are essential nutrients that your body needs in very small amounts. All of the vitamins that our bodies need can be found in the different types of foods we eat. Vitamin supplements can be taken when it is not possible to consume enough of one or more of these essential vitamins in the typical diet.

- Partner with other nutrients to build, maintain and repair our body tissue and regulate body processes.
- Vitamins don't provide energy themselves, but they do help you get energy from carbohydrates, fats, and proteins.
- 13 essential vitamins your body needs to remain healthy.

June 2013 16 | P a g e

## **Two Categories of Vitamins**

#### Fat Soluble

- Dissolve in fat, not water, and then are stored in your body.
- They include vitamins A, D, E and K.
- Fat soluble vitamins are stored in your body and consuming too much can have toxic effects.

#### Water Soluble

- Dissolve in water and are not stored in significant amounts in your body.
- Water-soluble vitamins include: vitamin C and eight B-complex vitamins.

## **Vitamin Supplements**

A well-balanced and varied diet provides all the vitamins most people need to stay healthy. However, there are reasons to take vitamin supplements such as:

- During rapid growth in infants and teens.
- Stress to the body.
- Pregnancy or breastfeeding.
- Those recovering from illness.
- Those on a weight-loss diet.
- In Oregon, where sunshine is not a dependable source for our bodies to make vitamin D so use of a supplement is recommended.

## **WIC Special Vitamins**

While all 13 vitamins are important, the WIC program focuses more on **vitamin A**, **vitamin C**, and **folic acid** as they are especially important to our clients.

- Many people don't get enough of the key vitamins that are crucial to the growth of healthy tissue.
- Important to pregnant and breastfeeding women, infants, and adults.

#### Vitamin A

- Helps your body resist infection.
- Keeps the eyes, skin, and internal organs healthy.

June 2013 17 | Page

<sup>\*</sup> Again, always remember, nutrition experts believe supplements should never replace a healthy diet.

VITAMIN A FOODS			
Food	Serving Size		
Sweet potato, cooked	1 medium (5 in. long)		
Carrot, raw	1 medium (6 in. long)		
Spinach, cooked	1/2 cup cooked		
Cantaloupe	1 cup cubes		
Mango	1/ 2 medium		
Winter squash, cooked	1/ 2 cup cubes		
Spinach, raw	1 1/ 2 cups		
Red bell pepper, raw	1/ 2 cup sliced		
Vegetable juice, canned	6 oz.		

#### Vitamin C

- Also known as ascorbic acid or ascorbate.
- Helps your body resist infection.
- Increases iron absorption, helps heal wounds.
- Gives structure to blood vessels.
- Helps mend broken bones.

#### **HOW TO GET THE MOST VITAMIN C IN FOODS**

- Avoid soaking vegetables in water.
- Steam vegetables or cook them in small amounts of water for a short time.
- Cook potatoes in their skins.
- Cover and refrigerate juices.
- When choosing produce, choose items that are freshest
- Grow your own fruits and vegetables
- Choose either fresh produce that is in season or frozen produce.

#### **Folic Acid**

- Also called folate.
- Helps your body make new cells.
- Helps form hemoglobin.
- Protects against heart disease.
- Reduces the risk of neural tube birth defects.

June 2013 18 | Page

FOLIC ACID-RICH FOODS			
Food	Serving Size		
Lentils	1/ 2 cup		
Pinto beans	1/ 2 cup		
Garbanzo beans	1/2 cup		
Black beans	1/2 cup		
Spinach	1/ 2 cup cooked		
Asparagus	1/ 2 cup		
Orange juice	1 cup from frozen conc.		
Romaine lettuce	1 cup shredded		
Sunflower seeds	1/ 4 cup		

#### **Facts about Folic Acid**

- While folic acid may not be as well known as the other vitamins, it's every bit as important.
- Folic acid is naturally present in green leafy vegetables, orange juice, dried beans, peanuts, avocados, and enriched grain products.
- Folic acid is sensitive to heat, so you should use raw vegetables in your diet or limit vegetable cooking time to 5 to 10 minutes.

#### Women and Folic Acid

- Essential for women during child bearing years.
- The recommended dosage is 400 micrograms of a daily supplement along with folic acid found in foods.
- Drugs such as aspirin and oral contraceptives interfere with folic acid in the body making it even more important that women get their daily dosage.

#### **Folic Acid and Birth Defects**

- Folic acid helps prevent birth defects known as neural-tube defects, or NTDs.
- With these birth defects, the babies' brains or spinal cords don't develop properly.
- Spina bifida is an NTD.

June 2013 19 | Page

#### **Antioxidants**

Antioxidants are vitamins and minerals in foods that prevent damage or repair damage to body cells

- Essentially they "take the hit" to protect healthy cells.
- Antioxidants improve your immune function.
- May lower risk of infection and cancer.

#### **Minerals**

Minerals are micronutrients, so like vitamins, only small amounts are needed to accomplish a great deal.

- Minerals do not contain calories.
- Unlike vitamins, they aren't destroyed by heat, so cooking doesn't affect the content. When food is burned down to ash, the ash remaining is the food's mineral content.

## **Multitasking Minerals**

- Minerals are part of the cells in your body including red blood cells, bones, teeth, nails, and muscle structure.
- Minerals regulate chemical reactions in your body, including maintaining water levels inside and outside the cells, keeping a regular heartbeat, helping nerves respond normally, allowing blood clotting in wounds, and regulating the release of energy from food.

## **Types of Minerals**

- Major minerals calcium, phosphorus, potassium, magnesium, sodium, chlorine and sulfur.
- Trace minerals iron, iodine, fluoride, zinc, manganese, chromium, molybdenum, copper and selenium.

## **Important Minerals for WIC**

While all minerals are important for body functions, WIC is especially interested in focusing on four minerals important to our clients: calcium, iron, fluoride and sodium.

#### Calcium

- Helps to form and maintain bones.
- As your body uses calcium, you must replace the calcium with calcium-rich food.

June 2013 20 | P a g e

CALCIUM-RICH FOODS				
Food	Serving Size	Calcium (mg)		
Total cereal	3/4 cup	1000		
Calcium-fortified orange	8 oz.	350		
juice	1 cup	300		
Low fat yogurt	1.5 oz.	300		
Cheddar cheese	1 cup	265		
Skim milk	3 oz.	200		
Canned sardines with bones	1/2 cup	150		
Pudding made with milk	1/2 cup	120		
Spinach, cooked				

#### **Calcium Food Sources**

- Milk and milk products are the best source of calcium.
- Dairy products offer protein, vitamin D and phosphorus.
- Individuals with milk allergies or those on special vegetarian diets, can get calcium from fortified soy milk, firm tofu, fish with edible bones, fortified foods.

## **Risk Groups Calcium Deficiency**

Since calcium is such a crucial part of a balanced diet, there are several groups at risk for calcium deficiency.

- Children calcium deficiency can interfere with growth and affect bone density and bone loss.
- Women, girls, and post-menopausal women may limit their dairy intake because of fears of weight gain from calories and fat.
- Strict vegetarians calcium levels can be maintained with careful dietary planning. Lactose intolerant limit their dairy intake, so calcium levels should be evaluated.

## **Calcium Supplements**

- May be recommended by physicians.
- Should never replace a healthy diet.
- Can interfere with iron absorption.
- Excess calcium from supplements may cause kidney problems
- Drinking milk does not result in excessive calcium intake.

June 2013 21 | P a g e

#### Fluoride

Fluoride strengthens developing tooth enamel and protects teeth from decay.

- Water is the main source of dietary fluoride.
- Fluoride may be naturally present or added to the community water supply.
- Fluoride levels may vary from one area to another.
- Fluoride supplements are recommended in Oregon in areas where fluoride is not added to the water supply.

#### Iron

- Trace mineral.
- Helps prevent and fight infections.
- Promotes brain development.
- Part of the hemoglobin, which carries oxygen to the body's cells.
- Children and pregnant women going through rapid growth periods need extra iron.

IRON-RICH FOODS				
Food	Serving Size	Iron (mg)		
Total cereal	3/4 cup	18.0		
Soybeans, cooked	1/2 cup	4.0		
Blackstrap molasses	1 tbsp.	3.5		
Potato, baked with skin	1 medium	2.7		
Beef (ground, extra lean, cooked)	3 oz.	2.2		
Pinto beans, cooked	1/2 cup	2.2		
Figs, dried	5 medium	2.2		
Tofu, firm	1/2 cup	1.8		
Apricots, dried	10 halves	1.6		

#### Two Forms of Iron in Food

- **Heme Iron** comes from animal products and is found in meats like chicken, beef, pork and seafood.
- **Non-heme Iron** comes from plants and is found in dried beans and vegetables, tofu, dried fruits and fortified cereals.

June 2013 22 | P a g e

## **Tips Increasing Intake**

- Include food rich in vitamin C when planning meals.
- Cook foods in iron pots and pans.
- Include meat as part of the meal iron from the meat is easily absorbed and helps your body absorb iron from plants.
- Be aware some things may hinder iron absorption excess amounts of foods such as caffeinated drinks, spinach, chocolate, and fiber, as well as antacids and calcium supplements, may negatively affect absorption.

#### Poor Iron Intake

- Children who eat iron-poor foods, replacing iron rich foods.
- Children who drink too much milk, replacing iron-rich foods.
- Infants weaned to cow's milk before one year may have poor iron intake.
- Women and teenage girls on calorie restricted diets may also have poor iron intake.

#### **Results Poor Iron Intake**

- Can contribute to iron-deficiency anemia.
- Can cause irritation to stomach lining/blood loss.
- Hinders iron absorption from foods.

#### **Excess Iron**

- Can be harmful.
- Overdoses of iron in children can be dangerous, even fatal.
- Keep multivitamins and iron supplements out of children's reach.

#### Sodium

Sodium, known as sodium chloride, is another important mineral for our bodies. Both sodium and potassium are electrolytes, meaning they transmit electrical currents in the body.

- Some sodium comes from table salt.
- The majority, 77% comes from sodium added during manufacturing process.
- Most Americans get too much sodium in their diets.
- In healthy people, sodium is excreted.
- With sodium sensitivity, high sodium intake increases blood pressure.

June 2013 23 | Page

#### TIPS FOR LOWERING SODIUM INTAKE

- Read the food label to check the sodium content of processed foods, especially frozen dinners, packaged mixes, soups, salad dressings, and sauces. Salt content varies greatly between manufacturers and processing methods. Choose fresh, frozen, or low sodium canned vegetables, rather than regular canned vegetables.
- Rinse canned vegetables to reduce sodium content by 23 to 45 percent (note some B vitamins will also be lost).
- Choice fresh or frozen meat, poultry, and seafood rather than canned, cured, or smoked meats.
- Limit salty condiments (soy sauce, mustard, pickles, etc.).
- Replace salt with spices and herbs to enhance the flavor in food.
- Taste food before salting it.
- Leave the salt shaker in the cupboard.

#### Water

You've heard it's important to drink plenty of water, but water not only quenches your thirst, it's essential for your health and survival.

- Our bodies are about 45 to 75 percent water.
- We get water by drinking it, by drinking other beverages, and in solid foods rich with water, such as juicy fruits and vegetables.

#### **Bodies Don't Store Water**

- Drink water on a daily basis to replenish loss.
- Beverages like milk and juice contain water.
- Some solids contain water.
- Fluids from caffeinated and non-caffeinated beverages count towards water intake.

## **Factors that Increase Fluid Needs**

- Pregnancy.
- Breastfeeding.
- Old age.
- Stress.
- High fiber diets.
- Illness.
- Exposure to extreme temps.
- Strenuous exercise.

June 2013 24 | Page

## **Dehydration**

- Occurs when the body loses so much water that function are affected.
- People who work or play outdoors or in hot climates are at risk.
- Dehydration can be caused by diarrhea, vomiting and fever.

#### **Avoiding Dehydration**

- Take water breaks.
- Keep a water pitcher with water in the refrigerator.
- Keep a water bottle with you.
- Include water, soup, or some other beverage.
- Be sure to drink some water before, during, and after physical activity.
- Enjoy fruits and vegetables that have a high water content.

#### **Summary**

You just learned about basic nutrition concepts, such as how food is digested in the body, the different classes of nutrients found in food, and how each of these affects your health. You now know about the role carbohydrates, fats, proteins, vitamins, minerals, and water play in your body, as well as in which foods these nutrients are found.

June 2013 25 | Page

#### Module 2: Guidelines and Standards

#### Introduction

Did you know that in 1980, our federal government issued the first Dietary Guidelines for Americans? The purpose of Dietary Guidelines, 2010 is to provide advice for making food choices that promote good health, a healthy weight, and help prevent disease for healthy Americans age 2 and over.

## **Dietary Guidelines for Americans**

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA)
- Updated at least every five years

## **Purpose of Guidelines**

- Good nutrition and good health go hand in hand.
- Proper nutrition is essential for the healthy growth and development of kids and adolescents.
- The major causes of illness and death in the United States are related to poor diet and an inactive lifestyle.
- Especially true with the high rates of obesity in our country obesity is a result of an energy imbalance from consuming more calories than are burned.

## Messages of the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010:

**Balancing Calories**— Balance the calories you consume from foods and beverages with the calories you use each day. Find out how many calories you need for a day as a first step to managing your weight. Go to www.ChooseMyPlate.gov to find your calorie level. Being physically active also helps you balance calories.

- **Enjoy your food, but eat less**. Take the time to fully enjoy your food as you eat it. Eating too fast or when your attention is elsewhere may lead to eating too many calories. Pay attention to hunger and fullness cues before, during, and after meals. Use them to recognize when to eat and when you've had enough.
- **Avoid oversized portions**. Use a smaller plate, bowl and glass. Portion out foods before you eat. When eating out, choose a smaller size option, share a dish, or take home part of your meal.

June 2013 26 | Page

**Foods to Increase** – Eat more vegetables, fruits, whole grains, and fat-free or 1% milk and dairy products. These foods have the nutrients you need for health – including potassium, calcium, vitamin D and fiber. Make them the basis for meals and snacks.

- Make half your plate fruits and vegetables. Choose red, orange and darkgreen vegetables like tomatoes, sweet potatoes, and broccoli, along with other vegetables for your meals. Add fruit to meals as part of main or side dishes or as dessert.
- Make at least half your grains whole grains. To eat more whole grains, substitute a whole-grain product for a refined product – such as eating wholewheat bread instead of white bread or brown rice instead of white rice.
- Vary your protein foods. Choose a variety of protein foods, which include seafood, lean meat and poultry, eggs, beans and peas, soy products and unsalted nuts and seeds.
- **Switch to fat-free or low-fat (1%) milk**. They have the same amount of calcium and other essential nutrients as whole milk, but fewer calories and less saturated fat.

**Foods to Reduce** – Cut back on foods high in solid fats, added sugars, and salt. They include cakes, cookies, ice cream, candies, sweetened drinks, pizza, and fatty meats like ribs, sausages, bacon and hot dogs. Use these foods as occasional treats, not every day foods.

- **Compare sodium in foods**. Use the Nutrition Facts label to choose lower sodium versions of foods like soup, bread, and frozen meals. Select canned foods labeled, "low sodium", "reduced sodium" or "no added salt."
- **Drink water instead of sugary drinks**. Cut calories by drinking water or unsweetened beverages. Soda, energy drinks, and sports drinks are a major source of added sugar, and calories.

**Building Healthy Eating Patterns** – Consuming fewer calories, making informed food choices, and being physically active can help you attain and maintain a healthy weight, reduce your risk of chronic disease, and promote overall health. In order to achieve this:

• Select an eating pattern that meets nutrient needs over time at an appropriate

June 2013 27 | Page

calorie level

- Account for all food and beverages consumed and assess how they fit within a total healthy eating pattern
- Follow food safety recommendations when preparing and eating foods to reduce the risk of foodborne illnesses

#### **Tips to Customize your Message**

- Avoid labeling foods as "good" or "bad."
- Be sensitive to client's preferences, lifestyles, and cultures.
- Use foods and activities they're familiar with in their lives.
- Use humor in appropriate situations.
- Offer time-saving, practical ideas.

#### **Food Guide Pyramid**

In 1992, the USDA released a Food Guide Pyramid, which included a picture to show how to eat healthier on a daily basis. As new scientific information increased our knowledge of proper nutrition, the Pyramid was simplified and revised to MyPyramid. Then based on the 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans, in 2011 USDA replaced MyPyramid with MyPlate to remind Americans to eat healthfully.

## ChooseMyPlate.gov Icon

- Reminds Americans to eat healthfully
- Illustrates the five food groups using a meal place setting.
- Can be used to highlight several of the Dietary Guidelines, including:
  - Make half your plate fruits and vegetables
  - o Make at least half your grains whole.
  - o Vary your protein foods.
  - Switch to skim or 1% milk

## **ChooseMyPlate.gov Website**

- Gives tools to explore Plate concepts
- Helps you find answers to clients' questions
- Allows personalizing of one's eating plans/goals
- 10 Tips Nutrition Education Series
- Sample Menus and Recipes
- Super Tracker allows you to create a personalized eating and exercise plan for your age, gender, height, weight and activity level and if you are pregnant or breastfeeding.

June 2013 28 | P a g e

## **Optimal Health Guide**

- Eat right.
- Exercise moderate to vigorous, at least 30 minutes per day, five or more days per week.

#### **MODERATE PHYSICAL ACTIVITIES**

- Walking briskly (about 3 1/2 miles per hour).
- Hiking.
- Gardening or yard work.
- Golf (walking and carrying clubs).
- Bicycling (less than 10 miles per ho
- Weight training (general light workout).

#### **VIGOROUS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY**

- Running or jogging (5 miles per hour).
- Bicycling (more than 10 miles per hour)
- Swimming (freestyle laps)
- Aerobics.
- Walking very fast (4 1/2 miles per hour).
- Heavy yard work, such as chopping wood.
- Weight lifting (vigorous effort).
- Basketball (competitive).

June 2013 29 | Page

## **MyPlate for Pregnant and Breastfeeding Moms**

Women who are pregnant or breastfeeding have special nutritional needs.

ChooseMyPlate.gov has a section on the website designed to help women meet their nutritional needs during pregnancy and while breastfeeding.

ChooseMyPlate.gov provides resources to help pregnant and breastfeeding women learn more about the changing nutritional needs of their bodies. They will find resources to develop a Daily Food Plan, recommendations regarding Dietary Supplements, Special Needs information (including medical conditions and allergies), Food Safety concerns, and also references to safe and reliable Sources of Information.

#### **Food Labels**

Food labels tell us about a food's nutrient content as well as teach clients about how each food fits into their eating plan. Food labels provide:

- Nutrition information on most foods.
- Standard, easy-to-read format.
- Info on amounts or serving of certain nutrients.
- Percentage Daily Values of nutrients.
- Uniform definition for food content terms.
- Claims about relationship of nutrient or food to a disease or condition.

#### Food Label Breakdown

- Front Panel most commonly seen part of the package.
- **Ingredient List** lists each ingredient in order by weight, starting with the main ingredient.
- **Nutrition Facts Panel** the chart that lists the serving size of the food and the amounts of calories, protein, fat, etc.

#### **Health Claims**

- A statement relating a nutrient or substance in the food to a disease or healthrelated condition.
- Typically shown on the front panel.
- Approved by the Food and Drug Administration.

## **Ingredient List**

- Display ingredients in order by weight, starting with the main ingredient.
- Helps those with food allergies avoid specific ingredients.

# **Meal Planning**

Planning meals and menus ahead, instead of at the last minute, actually assures:

Stress-free meal.

June 2013 30 | Page

- Nutritious meal.
- Saves time and money.
- Involves the family.

## **Shopping Tips**

Use a shopping list.

- Compare prices.
- Use coupons and in-store promotion.
- Look at food labels for serving sizes.
- Notice unit prices and sizes.

## **Summary**

You've just learned about the standard nutrition guidelines for a healthy diet. This information comes from the Dietary Guidelines for Americans and the ChooseMyPlate.gov website. These tools and guidelines have tips to help your WIC clients eat a healthy diet. You also know more about food labels, which helps you make healthy food choices. Finally, you learned some basic guidelines for meal planning that you can recommend to your clients.

June 2013 31 | Page

## **Module 3: Special Considerations**

#### Introduction

In earlier modules, you learned some basics about nutrition. There are other issues related to foods that you need to take into consideration when planning your lifestyle, including weight management, vegetarian diets, food allergies and reliable nutrition resources.

## **Weight Management**

Weight management is a growing problem in the U.S. The 2003-2004 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (or NHANES) reported:

- 1/3 of adults in the U.S. are overweight.
- Slightly more than one-third are obese.
- 14% of children ages 2 5 years are overweight.

#### **Definitions**

- Overweight having extra body weight from muscle, bone, fat or water.
- Obese having a high amount of extra body fat.
- Morbidly obese having such a high amount of extra body fat that it's life-threatening.

#### **Body Mass Index (BMI)**

- Measures weight in relation to height.
- Gives a general estimate of body fat.
- Gauges for risk of disease. (higher the BMI, the higher the risk for disease).

#### **BMI Limitations**

While BMI is a fairly accurate guideline for estimating body fat, it has its limitations.

- Sometimes overestimates body fat in very muscular athletes.
- Underestimates body fat in older people with loss of muscle mass.
- Since we're not all alike, the link between BMI and body fat tends to vary with age, gender, and ethnicity.

## **BMI Weight Status**

Underweight Below 18.5 BMI
 Normal healthy weight 18.5 – 24.9 BMI
 Overweight 25.0 – 29.9 BMI

• Obese 3.0 and higher BMI (above 40 is extremely obese).

June 2013 32 | Page

## **Factors Affecting Weight**

- Environment.
- Family history.
- Genetics.
- Metabolism.
- Behavior.
- Habits.

## **Ways to Prevent Obesity**

While some factors such as family history can't be changed, there are steps you can take to help prevent obesity for yourself or for your family.

- Make sure to follow a healthy diet.
- Monitor calories and fats in foods.
- Increase physical activity.
- Limit sedentary activities such as surfing the Internet, playing video games, or watching TV.

## **Energy Balance**

You can stay at a steady weight if you maintain an energy balance. Your body needs a certain level of energy on a daily basis for basic energy needs.

- The Basal Metabolic Rate, (BMR) the level of energy that is needed for base-level physical activity and involuntary processes, like food digestion, breathing and heart pumping.
- To achieve perfect energy balance the calories taken in or eaten equal the calories used in daily activities.
- Energy balance weight remains steady.
- Positive energy balance the calories taken in are greater than the calories used, which leads to weight gain.
- Negative energy balance the calories taken in are less than the calories used, resulting in weight loss.

## **Weight Loss**

- The healthiest way to lose weight is to eat a healthy diet while increasing activity.
- Avoid fad diets that claim quick and amazing results.
- Any diet that results in a loss of more than two pounds per week is too fast and aggressive.
- If your body does not have time to adjust to your new weight and new way
  of eating, it is likely that you will regain the weight.
- Once you reach your target weight, you can maintain that weight by eating the same well balanced diet with slightly larger portions.

June 2013 33 | P a g e

## **Weight Loss Plan**

Physical activity is the key to maintaining a healthy body weight for both adults and children.

- Adults should have at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity most days of the week.
- Exercise can be done at one time or in short periods throughout the day.
- The key to good health is to increase your heart rate and burn calories.

## **Eating Disorders**

Some people may try to strictly regulate their diet, which may result in an eating disorder.

- No clear cause for eating disorders can be traced to an ordinary weight loss diet, a traumatic life event, or general stress.
- Three main types of disorders anorexia nervosa, bulimia, and binge eating.

## **Treating Eating Disorders**

- All three types of eating disorders require medical attention as they can become serious if not treated.
- As many as 5 20% die from medical complications.
- If you suspect client has an eating disorder, refer to a nutritionist who specializes in eating disorders or a primary care physician.

## **Eating Disorder Signs**

- Denial of hunger, refusal to eat, eating tiny portions.
- Abnormal weight loss.
- Changes in mood, insecurity, and depression.
- Poor body image, seeing themselves as fat.
- Compulsive, excessive exercising.
- Constipation, missed periods, nausea or bloating after eating.
- Fine, downy hair on the arms and face.
- Overuse of laxatives or diuretics.

#### **Vegetarians**

People with restricted diets sometimes find it a challenge to get enough vitamins and nutrients. In vegetarian diets, people:

- Mainly eat food that comes from plants.
- Limit or avoid animal products.

June 2013 34 | Page

## **Four Types of Vegetarian Diets**

- Strict Vegetarians eat strictly plant food, no animal products (no eggs, dairy, milk, etc.).
- Lacto-vegetarians eat plant foods and milk products (no meat or eggs).
- Lacto-ovo-vegetarians eat plant foods, milk products, and eggs.
- Semi-vegetarians (flexitarian) eat plant foods, eggs, milk products, small amounts of fish and poultry.

## **Nutritional Adequacy of Vegetarian Diets**

A well-balanced vegetarian diet:

- Can help prevent and treat disease.
- Is safe during pregnancy, breastfeeding, infancy, and childhood.
- Includes a wide variety of foods.
- Includes enough protein, and vitamins B12 and D, calcium, iron and zinc.
- Includes low-fat protein foods like beans, lentils and tofu.
- Doesn't overload on high-fat cheeses to replace meat.

## **Food Allergies**

Occur because the immune system has response to protein in a food. The term is often misused – only 4-5 % of reactions are true allergies.

## Symptoms of an allergic reaction

- Occurs immediately or up to 72 hours after eating.
- Reactions include itching, hives, rash, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, swelling of the face and eyes.
- Respiratory reactions include shortness of breath, cough, runny nose, and wheezing.
- Diagnosis may be inaccurate because symptoms can mimic common illnesses.
- Food allergies can be life-threatening.

#### **Food Intolerance**

- People often confuse food allergies with food intolerance.
- A food intolerance reaction doesn't involve the immune system.
- It occurs when the body is not able to digest a certain component in food.
- Common food intolerances include lactose intolerance and reactions to MSG (a food additive).

June 2013 35 | Page

#### **Treatment**

- Food Allergies avoid the food causing the allergy.
- Food Intolerance may tolerate minimum amount of food causing the intolerance.

#### **Food Allergies in Children**

- Food allergies are more common in children due to their immature digestive system.
- Children are likely to outgrow food allergies (but some may last a lifetime).
- Food allergies should be diagnosed by a health care provider (if you suspect a child has food allergies, refer a client to his or her health care provider).

## **Treatment of Food Allergies**

After being diagnosed with a food allergy, you should:

- Avoid the problem food.
- Substitute other foods to ensure proper nutrient intake.
- Read food labels for hidden allergens.

## **Top 8 Allergy-Causing Foods**

Cow's milk. For more information about food allergies, contact the Food Allergy Network at http://www.foodallergy.org/

- 1. Cow's milk
- 2. Eggs.
- 3. Peanuts.
- 4. Fish.
- 5. Shellfish.
- 6. Wheat.
- 7. Soy.
- 8. Tree nuts (walnuts, cashews, etc.)

#### **Lactose Intolerance**

- Lactose is a sugar found in milk.
- Lactose is the enzyme that the body uses to breakdown lactose.

June 2013 36 | P a g e

- Lack of or decreased amounts of lactose enzyme result in undigested lactose.
- Undigested lactose causes gas, bloating, and/or diarrhea.

#### **Reliable Nutrition Information**

Nutrition information is everywhere! It is important to recognize reliable sources of nutrition information. These include:

- Nutrition departments of local hospitals, medical centers and clinics
- Reputable consumer groups
- Scientific and professional associations
- Government agencies
- The Extension service
- Nutrition departments of accredited colleges and universities

## **Summary**

You just learned about basic nutrition concepts, such as identifying weight management through tools including calculating Body Mass Index (BMI), factors for weight gain and maintaining energy balance. We examined symptoms and treatment for three types of eating disorders: anorexia nervosa, bulimia and binge eating. We described the four types of vegetarian diets: strict, lacto-vegetarian, lacto-ovo-vegetarian and semi-vegetarian, and the key elements for providing adequate nutrients in those diets. We discussed the differences between food allergy and food intolerance, along with symptoms and treatment. And finally, we examined lactose intolerance and discussed its identification and treatment. This completes the basic nutrition course. Congratulations!

June 2013 37 | Page

#### References

Alaska WIC Risk Code Manual. USDA WIC Risk Factor Sheet, *Risk #113 Overweight Children*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.hss.state.ak.us/dpa/programs/nutri/downloads/Admin/Manuals/">http://www.hss.state.ak.us/dpa/programs/nutri/downloads/Admin/Manuals/</a>

American Dental Association, by ADA"s Council on Access, Prevention and Interprofessional Relations. (2005). *Fluoridation facts*. Retrieved from www.ada.org/public/topics/fluoride/facts/index.asp

American Dental Association Position Paper. (2008). *Interim guidance on fluoride intake for infants and young children.* Retrieved from www.ada.org/prof/resources/positions/statements/fluoride\_infants.asp

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. (2011) *Nutrition and You: Trends 2011*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.eatright.org/nutritiontrends/">http://www.eatright.org/nutritiontrends/</a>

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2013) *Total Diet Approach to Healthy Eating.* Retrieved from <a href="http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8356">http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8356</a>

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2009) *Weight Management*. Retrieved from http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8382

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2009) *Obesity, Reproduction and Pregnancy* Outcomes. Retrieved from http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8376

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2009) *Vegetarian Diets*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8357">http://www.eatright.org/About/Content.aspx?id=8357</a>

Aronson, D. (2005). Vegetarian nutrition - what every dietitian should know. *Today's Dietitian*, (7)3, 32. Center for Disease Control. (2008). *Overweight and obesity*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/obesity/

Center for Disease Control. (2007). *About BMI for children and teens*. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/bmi/childrens BMI/about childrens BMI.htm

CFSAN Office of Nutritional Products, Labeling and Dietary Supplements. (2006). Questions and answers about trans fat nutrition labeling.

June 2013 38 | P a g e

Department of Health and Human Services. National Institutes of Health Aim for a healthy weight, information for patients and the public, key Recommendations. Retrieved from

http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/obesity/lose wt/recommen.htm

Dietary Reference Intakes (2000). For Vitamin C, Selenium and Carotenoids. Washington: National Academy Press.

Dietary Reference Intakes (2001). For Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. Washington: National Academy Press. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nap.edu">www.nap.edu</a>

Duffy, R.L. (2006). The American Dietetic Association's Complete Food and Nutrition Guide (3rd Ed). New Jersey: Wiley.

Food Allergy Network. General Information. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.foodallergy.org/about.html">http://www.foodallergy.org/about.html</a>

Food and Nutrition Board. Recommended dietary allowances (10th Ed.). Washington: National Academy of Sciences–National Research Council. National Academy Press, Washington DC

Food and Nutrition Board. (1998). Dietary reference intakes for thiamine, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, folate, vitamin B12, pantothenic acid, biotin, and choline. Washington: National Academy Press.

Food Stamp Nutrition Education Program. Meal planning and shopping. Retrieved from http://virtual.clemson.edu/groups/eatwell/pdf/planandshop.pdf

Frantz, C. (2007). Iron deficiency anemia. Retrieved from <a href="http://kidshealth.org/parent/medical/heart/ida.html">http://kidshealth.org/parent/medical/heart/ida.html</a>

Holt, M., & Sofka, D. (Eds). (2002). Bright futures in practice, (2nd Ed). Arlington, VA: Center for Education in Maternal and Child Health.

Institute of Medicine., DRI tables. Retrieved from http://www.iom.edu/CMS/54133/54377.aspx www.iom.edu/Object.File/Master/21/372/0.pdf

June 2013 39 | Page

Kant, A.K., Graubard, B.I., Schatzkin, A. (2004). Dietary patterns predict mortality in a national cohort. The national health interviews surveys, 1987 and 1992. Journal of Nutrition, 134. 1793-1799

Mahan, K. L. (2004). Krause's Food Nutrition & Diet Therapy (11th Ed). Pennsylvania: Saunders.

Mangels, R. (2008). Vegetarian diets during pregnancy. Retrieved from http://www.vegetariannutrition.net/articles/Vegetarian-Diets-During-Pregnancy.php

March of Dimes. (??). Pregnancy and Newborn Health Education Center. Anemia. Retrieved from www.marchofdimes.com/pnhec/188 1049.asp

March of Dimes. (2007). Quick reference Guide: Fitness for Two. Retrieved from <a href="http://search.marchofdimes.com/cgi-bin/MsmGo.exe?grab\_id=4&page\_id=10880768&query=exercise&hiword=EXERCISED+EXERCISERS+EXERCISES+EXERCISING+exercise+">http://search.marchofdimes.com/cgi-bin/MsmGo.exe?grab\_id=4&page\_id=10880768&query=exercise&hiword=EXERCISED+EXERCISERS+EXERCISES+EXERCISING+exercise+</a>

Martinez-Pedersen, S. & Meerschaert, C.M. (2008). Vegan diets for children. Retrieved from http://www.vegetariannutrition.net/articles/Vegan-Diets-For-Children.php

Mayo Clinic. (2008). Water: How much should you drink every day? Retrieved from http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/water/NU00283

Mayo Clinic. (2007). Dehydration. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/dehydration/DS00561">http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/dehydration/DS00561</a>

Medline Plus. (2007) Osteoporosis. Retrieved from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/osteoporosis.htm

Medline Plus. (2002). Iron Deficiency anemia-children. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/007134.htm">www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/007134.htm</a>

Messina, V., Melina, V., & Mangels, R. (2003). A new food guide for north american vegetarians. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research (64)2.

Molt, M. (2006). Food For Fifty (12th Ed). Upper Saddle:NJ

June 2013 40 | P a g e

National Academy of Sciences. Institute of Medicine. Food and Nutrition Board.Dietary. (2004) Reference Intakes for Water, Potassium, Sodium, Chloride, and Sulfate. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.iom.edu/?id=18495&redirect=0">http://www.iom.edu/?id=18495&redirect=0</a> Released Feb 11, 2004

National Archives and Records Administration. Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Title 21: Food and Drug Part 101- Food Labeling, as of May 23, 2008. Retrieved from http://www.gpoaccess.gov/executive.html

National Heart Blood and Lung Institute. The dietary approaches to stop hypertension - sodium study (DASH-Sodium) (2001). New England Journal of Medicine. Vol. 344, 3-10. Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/resources/deca/descriptions/dashs.htm

National Heart and Lung and Blood Institute. Diseases and Conditions Index. (2008). Overweight and Obesity. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/obe/obe">http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/obe/obe</a> whatare.html

National Heart and Lung and Blood Institute. Expert Panel on the Identification, Evaluation and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/obgdlns.htm">http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/obgdlns.htm</a>

National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. (2006). Diseases and Conditions Index. Iron-deficiency anemia. Retrieved from www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/ida/ida whatis.html

National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (1998). Your guide to lowering your blood pressure with DASH- DFASH eating plan, (NIH Publication No. 06-4082). Revised April 2006. Retrieved from

http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/hbp/dash/index.htm

National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Disease (NIAMS). (2007). Osteoporosis. Retrieved from

www.niams.nih.gov/Health Info/Bone/Osteoporosis/default.asp

National Institutes of Health National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. (1994). Facts about blood cholesterol (NIH Publication No. 94-2696). Retrieved from http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/chol/fabc/index.htm

June 2013 41 | Page

National Institute of Health. (1998). Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults (NIH Publication No. 98-4083). Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/ob\_gdlns.pdf">http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/ob\_gdlns.pdf</a>

U. S. Food and Drug Administration. (1999). FDA backgrounder. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~comm/vltlabel.html">http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~comm/vltlabel.html</a>

USDA Food and Nutrition Information Center. (2008). Vegetarian nutrition resource list. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/pubs/bibs/gen/vegetarian.pdf">http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/pubs/bibs/gen/vegetarian.pdf</a>

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service. (1999). USDA nutrient database for standard reference, release 13: Nutrient data laboratory. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/foodcomp">http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/foodcomp</a>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, US Department of Agriculture. (2005). Dietary guidelines for Americans 2005. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthierus.gov/dietaryguidelines">www.healthierus.gov/dietaryguidelines</a>

US Department of Health and Human Services. Dietary Guidelines. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/">http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/</a>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration. Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. (2008). Guidance for industry, a food labeling guide. Retrieved from http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/2lg-toc.html

USDA ChooseMyPlate. (2013). Retrieved from <a href="http://www.choosemyplate.gov/">http://www.choosemyplate.gov/</a>

June 2013 42 | Page